# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Brianna McKee Haggerty,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

Nancy F. Thornton et al.

Defendants and Respondents. )

S271483

4th Civ. No. D078049

San Diego County Superior Court No. 37-2019-00028694.PR.TR.CTL

# **Appellant's Opening Brief**

Appeal from the Superior Court of San Diego County Hon. Julia C. Kelety, Judge

Mitchell Keiter, SBN 156755 Keiter Appellate Law The Beverly Hills Law Building 424 South Beverly Drive Beverly Hills, CA 90212 310.553.8533 Mitchell.Keiter@gmail.com Attorney for Appellant Brianna McKee Haggerty

# **

# **Question Presented**

Does the same law govern trust revocations and trust modifications, so that the settlor must make the trust's prescribed method of modification explicitly exclusive to preclude the default alternative (Prob. Code, § 15401, subd. (a)(2)), or does prescribing any modification method preclude the default option?

#### Introduction

People sometimes exercise their agency by constraining it. Just as Odysseus instructed his crew to bind him to the mast to protect him from the lure of the Sirens, a trustor may instruct counsel to bind her to a restrictive method for modifying the trust, to protect her from those who would exert undue influence to usurp her assets. The law implements a trustor's agency by enforcing the terms she herself chose.

This case involves such a trust. In 2015, Jeane Bertsch created a trust that prescribed it could be modified by "an acknowledged instrument in writing." One year later, she and a notary signed an acknowledged document to modify her trust and benefit her niece, appellant Brianna Haggerty. Two years later, she signed another document—unnotarized which purportedly modified the beneficiary list by disinheriting Haggerty and leaving \$500,000 to her attorney. Bertsch died later that year.

This Court should enforce the trust's prescribed terms and find the 2018 unnotarized document was not a valid modification.

#### Statement of the Case<sup>1</sup>

#### A. Underlying documents

In 2015, Jeane Bertsch created a trust. (Opn. 2.) The trust agreement indicated Bertsch "reserves the following rights, each of which may be exercised whenever and as often as [she] may wish. [¶.] A. Amend or Revoke. The right by an acknowledged instrument in writing to revoke or amend this Agreement or any trust hereunder." (Opn. 2.)

In 2016, Bertsch amended the trust to provide a benefit to her niece, appellant Brianna Haggerty, and nominated her as successor trustee. (Opn. 3.) Bertsch signed this document with a notary. (Opn. 3.)

1

The statement of the case is abbreviated because the case turns on one pertinent sentence in the trust and the two statutory provisions at issue. Respondents may wish to dwell on the case's specific facts and extrinsic evidence to support their position that Ms. Bertsch favored the modification. But courts must give effect to the entire trust, including its provisions for modification. (*Pena v. Dey* (2019) 39 Cal.App.5th 546, 555.) There was persuasive evidence in *Pena* that the trustor favored a certain modification, but it was invalid because it did not comply with the modification terms he himself had prescribed. (*Ibid*.) In other words, courts give effect to the trustor's intent regarding the *process* of modification as well as its *outcome*.

In 2018, Bertsch drafted a handwritten document to revise the beneficiary list and exclude Haggerty. (Opn. 3.) It was not notarized. (Opn. 3.) Bertsch died later that year. (Opn. 3.)

#### **B.** Trial court proceedings

Thornton, the original trust's nominated successor trustee, moved to confirm her appointment; she contended the 2016 modification had been revoked and the 2018 modification was valid. (Opn. 3.) Haggerty's petition contended the opposite: the notarized 2016 document validly modified the trust but the unnotarized 2018 document did not. (Opn. 3.) The court concluded the 2018 note validly modified the trust. (Opn. 5.)

#### C. The Court of Appeal

The Court of Appeal affirmed. (Opn. 13.) It found the trust agreement "did not distinguish between revocation and modification," and Bertsch's prescribed method ("an acknowledged instrument") was not explicitly exclusive. (Opn. 11.) Therefore, section 15401, subdivision (a)(2)'s fallback method to revoke the trust was also available to modify it. (Opn. 11.) The Court of Appeal found Bertsch complied with this fallback method by signing her note and personally delivering it to herself as trustee. (Opn. 11-12.) The Court of Appeal did not find Bertsch complied with the trust's prescribed method.

#### **Summary of Argument**

This case involves variations on a familiar principle: expressio unius est exclusio alterius. For most of the twentieth century, a trustor could revoke a trust that was silent as to its revocation procedure by filing a writing with a trustee (the "fallback method"). (See *Fleishman v. Blechman* (1957) 148 Cal.App.2d 88, 95.) But where the trust specified a revocation method, only that method could validly revoke the trust. (*Hibernia Bank v. Wells Fargo Bank* (1977) 66 Cal.App.3d 399, 404; *Rosenauer v. Title Ins. & Trust Co.* (1973) 30 Cal.App.3d 300, 304.) A 1986 recodification slightly loosened this protocol by authorizing the fallback method for revocation unless the trust's prescribed method was explicitly exclusive. (Prob. Code, § 15401, subd. (a)(2).)

*Expressio unius* also governed trust modifications. The power to revoke encompassed the power to amend, so a revocable trust could be modified, unless it specifically authorized only *full* revocation. (*Heifetz v. Bank of America Nat. Trust & Sav. Assn.* (1957) 147 Cal.App.2d 776, 781-782.) And where the trust was modifiable, the trustor could modify it by filing a writing with a trustee, unless the trust specified a modification method, in which case only that method could validly modify the trust. (Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 330(i); § 331(c)(d) (1957).)

The same principles of construction governing trusts created by individuals also govern statutes enacted by legislators. Because former Civil Code section 2280 was silent as to modification procedures, the law regarding revocation filled the vacuum as a fallback. But that changed in 1986, when the Legislature created separate provisions: Probate Code section 15401 governs "Revocable trusts," and Probate Code section 15402 governs "Modification of trust."<sup>2</sup> The former section authorized the fallback method unless the trust's prescribed method was explicitly exclusive. The latter said nothing about the fallback method or explicit exclusivity.

The rules governing revocation and modification have diverged. Had the Legislature wished to preserve the congruence, it easily could have done so. It could have declined to reference modification at all, and continue to implicitly include provisions for modification within those of revocation, following *Heifetz, supra,* 147 Cal.App.2d 776.

Alternatively, the Legislature could have expressly indicated the revised procedures apply to both revocation and modification, as it did with related provisions. (See e.g. § 15401, subd. (d); § 15403, subd. (a); § 15404, subd. (a).) In fact, the Legislature expressly changed another provision in

2

All undesignated statutory citation is to the Probate Code.

section 15401 (now codified in subdivision (c)) to clarify it intended to apply the provision equally to revocation and modification. Though it originally provided "A trust may not be **revoked** by an attorney," the Legislature changed it to provide "A trust may not be **modified or revoked** by an attorney." (Stats. 1988, ch. 113, § 19, p. 481, emphases added.) The Legislature made the change to "make clear that the rule applicable to revocation by an attorney in fact applies to modification." (Cal. Law. Revision Com. com., West's Ann. Prob.Code (2022 ed.) foll. § 15401.) In contrast to this clarification, which expressly referenced both revocation and modification to show the provision covered both, the Legislature left subdivision (a)(2) untouched, so it continued to reference only revocation. (See Rashidi v. Moser (2014) 60 Cal.4th 718, 726: "Where a statute, with reference to one subject contains a given provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject is significant to show that a different intention existed.")

The Legislature took neither path to equate the fallback method's application to revocation and modification, and instead created and maintains divergent provisions for revocation and modification. This divergence proves the "Legislature knew how to limit the exclusivity of a revocation method provided in a trust and chose not to impose such a limitation on modifications." (*Nivala Balistreri v. Balistreri* (Feb. 24, 2022, A162222) \_\_ Cal.App.5th \_\_ [p. 7] citing *King v. Lynch* (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1193.)

Not only the statutory text but also public policy confirms this interpretation. The Legislature had reason to make modification presumptively more difficult than revocation. An unscrupulous caretaker or counsel cannot usurp an elder's assets by inducing her to *revoke* the trust, because intestacy laws would keep the estate within the family. Only if the trustor *modified* the trust and selected a different beneficiary could the usurper take her assets.

In any event, whether or not this Court agrees with *King*'s reasoning, that decision stated California law as of 2015, when Ms. Bertsch created her trust. That law provided that a trustor could choose to "bind . . . herself to a specific method of modification or amendment of a trust by including that specific method in the trust agreement." (*King, supra,* 204 Cal.App.4th at p. 1193, internal citation omitted.) And where she did, "that method *must be used to amend the trust.*" (*Ibid.*, emphasis added.) This was the rule that prevailed when Bertsch chose to bind herself to the modification method (an "acknowledged instrument") prescribed in the trust. Assuming arguendo this Court favors a different rule, it should apply only prospectively.

#### Argument

# Section 15402 does not incorporate the provisions of Section 15401 sub silentio.

Section 15401 provides the trustor may revoke a trust through the fallback method unless the trust's prescribed revocation method is explicitly exclusive. There is no ground for concluding the Legislature intended to enact that same provision in section 15402 *sub silentio*.

California's presumption of trusts' revocability (and modifiability) created a need for default or fallback provisions. Because a trust that was silent as to revocation was revocable, there had to be some way to revoke it. Former Civil Code section 2280 thus filled the vacuum by authorizing a fallback procedure whereby the trustor could file a writing with the trustee. (*Fleishman, supra,* 148 Cal.App.2d 88, 95.) Similarly, trusts that were silent as to modification could be modified by the prescribed revocation method. (*Heifetz, supra,* 147 Cal.App.2d 776, 781-782.) But where the trustor specified a particular method, that method precluded the fallback model. (*Hibernia Bank, supra,* 66 Cal.App.3d 399, 404; *Rosenauer, supra,* 30 Cal.App.3d 300, 304.)

In 1986, the Legislature followed the recommendation of the California Law Revision Commission to reorganize and consolidate scattered provisions of existing law. (*Balistreri*, *supra*, \_\_ Cal.App.5th \_\_ at p. 12.) The enactment "essentially clarifie[d] and codifie[d] existing provisions of law under a unified trust code." (Legis. Analyst, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 2652 (1985-86 Session) (May 20, 1986) p.1) The Legislature repealed Civil Code section 2280 and enacted Probate Code sections 15401 and 15402.

## Section 15401 [Revocation] (emphases added)

(a) A trust that is revocable by the settlor or any other person may be **revoked** in whole or in part by any of the following methods:

(1) By compliance with any method of **revocation** provided in the trust instrument.

(2) By a writing, other than a will, signed by the settlor or any other person holding the power of **revocation** and delivered to the trustee during the lifetime of the settlor or the person holding the power of revocation. If the trust instrument explicitly makes the method of revocation provided in the trust instrument the exclusive method of revocation, the trust may not be revoked pursuant to this paragraph.

. . . .

(c) A trust may not be **modified or revoked** by an attorney in fact under a power of attorney unless it is expressly permitted by the trust instrument.

(d) This section shall not limit the authority to **modify or terminate** a trust pursuant to Section 15403 or 15404 in an appropriate case.

## Section 15402 [Modification] (emphasis added)

Unless the trust instrument provides otherwise, if a trust is revocable by the settlor, the settlor may **modify** the trust by the procedure for revocation.

# A. The caselaw is divided on whether revocation law remains congruent with modification law.

The question presented is whether the presumptive rules for revocation and modification remain congruent, so a trustor must make a modification method explicitly exclusive to preclude resort to the fallback method.

# 1. According to *King*, *Pena*, and *Balistreri*, the Legislature distinguished revocation law from modification law.

#### a. King (and Pena)

*King* held section 15402 maintained the rule for modification that formerly applied to both revocation and modification: The trustor's prescribing a particular method precluded another method, including the fallback method. *(King v. Lynch, supra,* 204 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1193.) "[I]f any modification method is specified in the trust, that method must be used to amend the trust." *(Ibid.*)

The trust in *King* prescribed revocation would occur where either trustor (husband or wife) signed a writing and delivered it to the other trustor and the trustee, but modification would occur only where *both* trustors signed a writing and delivered it to the trustee. (*King, supra,* 204 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1188-1189.) The court considered whether the husband's unilateral writings validly amended the trust. (*Id.* at pp. 1188-1190.) Though these writings complied with the prescribed revocation method, they did not comply with the prescribed modification method. (*Id.* at p. 1194.)

King recalled the procedures for revocation and modification were congruent prior to 1986; because the rules on revocation applied to modification by implication, courts "applied the rules governing trust revocations to trust modifications." (King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1192-1193.) But the Legislature superseded such legislation-byimplication by enacting sections 15401 and 15402. (Id. at p. 1193.) No longer did the rules for modification simply derive from those governing revocation; the Legislature "differentiated between trust revocations and modifications," thereby showing the Legislature "no longer intended the same rules to apply to both revocation and modification." (Ibid.) Recalling the text of section 15402 ("Unless the trust instrument provides otherwise, if a trust is revocable by the settlor, the settlor may modify the trust by the procedure for revocation"), King concluded that where the trust was silent as to modification, the trustor could modify the trust through the "procedure for revocation." (Id. at p. 1192.) But the fallback provision applied *only* where the trust was silent: "[I]f any modification method is specified in the trust, that method must be used to amend the trust." (Id. at p. 1193.)

In invalidating the modifications, *King* continued former Civil Code section 2280's rule that the trustor's prescribed modification method would displace the fallback method. (See Hibernia, supra, 66 Cal.App.3d at p. 404; Rosenauer, supra, 30 Cal.App.3d at p. 304.) Section 15401 changed the law regarding automatic displacement for *revocation*; a prescribed method would displace the fallback method only if it was explicitly exclusive. (§ 15041, subd. (a)(2).) But section 15402 did not require explicit exclusivity, so *King* declined to read the statute as if it did. "If we were to adopt appellant's position and hold that a trust may be modified by the revocation procedures set forth in section 15401 unless the trust explicitly provides that the stated modification method is exclusive, section 15402 would become surplusage." (Id. at p. 1193.) King instead observed "the Legislature knew how to limit the exclusivity of a revocation method provided in a trust and chose not to impose such a limitation on modifications in section 15402." (Id. at p. 1193.)

Pena v. Dey, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th 546, followed King in holding "a trustor may bind himself or herself to a specific method of modification or amendment of a trust by including that specific method in the trust agreement," and where she does so, "that method must be used to amend the trust." (*Id.*  at p. 552, citing *King*, *supra*, 204 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1193.) However, because the prescribed method in *Pena* was the subdivision (a)(2) method, the issue there was not which method had to be followed but whether the trustor validly executed it. (*Pena*, *supra*, 39 Cal.App.5th at pp. 548-549.)

#### b. Balistreri

Last month, the Court of Appeal followed *King* in *Balistreri, supra,* \_\_ Cal.App.5th \_\_. *Balistreri* resembles this case more than *King* in that: (1) the trust prescribed the same method for revocation as modification; (2) that method was an acknowledged written instrument; and (3) the trustor(s) had already modified the trust through an acknowledged written instrument before the modification in dispute. (*Id.* at p. 2.) Like *King, Balistreri* held that the trustors' prescribing a particular method (a notarized writing) bound them to it and precluded another method.

By including that " 'specific method of ... amendment' " in the Trust, [the trustors] expressed an intent to bind themselves to that method — indeed, a method they had repeatedly utilized in amending and revoking prior trusts and they were not entitled to cast aside that procedure and amend the Trust using the revocation procedure set forth in section 15401, subdivision (a)(2).

(Id. at pp. 7-8; King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at p. 1193.)

Citing the Restatement ("If the settlor reserves a power to modify the trust only in a particular manner or under particular circumstances, [settlor] can modify the trust only in that manner or under those circumstances") *Balistreri* held that a prescribed method for modification (unlike revocation) did not need to be explicitly exclusive to preclude the fallback method. (*Balistreri* at pp. 8-9.)

*Balistreri* extended *King* in holding the expression of a prescribed method precludes the fallback method even where (as here) the trust prescribed the same method for revocation and modification.

Had the Legislature intended for section 15402 to require an explicit statement of exclusivity for modification procedures, it could have so stated, as it did in section 15401. (*King, supra*, 204 Cal.App.4th at p. 1193, fn. 3 [parallel citation] [noting Legislature used "different statutory language" in section 15402].) Or it elsewise could have omitted the qualifying phrase, "[u]nless the trust instrument provides otherwise," from section 15402. It did neither.

(Balistreri, supra, \_\_ Cal.App.5th \_\_ at pp. 8-9.)

It did not matter whether the text in the *trust* provided different procedures for revocation and modification, because the language in the *Probate Code* provides different procedures, demanding an explicit exclusivity to preclude the fallback method for revocation but not modification.

#### c. The Balistreri concurrence

The concurring justice in *Balistreri* expressing a "provisional opinion," also found dispositive the disparate texts of section 15401 and section 15402: "[T]hat the trust agreement does not expressly state its method is exclusive is of no moment, as the requirement for express exclusivity appears only in section 15401, subdivision (a)(2), governing revocation." (*Balistreri*, *supra*, \_\_ Cal.App.5th \_\_ at p. 1 (conc. opn. of Tucher, J.).) The concurrence agreed with the King and *Balistreri* majorities that a prescribed modification method need not be explicitly exclusive for it to displace the fallback method; for the concurrence, it was enough if it was explicitly or implicitly exclusive. (Id. at p. 3.) The Balistreri trust provided "[a]ny amendment, revocation, or termination. . . shall be made by written instrument signed, with a signature acknowledged by a notary public, by the trustor(s). . . and delivered to the trustee." (Id. at pp. 2-3.) The concurrence found this showed an implicit exclusivity, so the fallback method could not apply. (*Id.* at p. 1.)

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