#### No. S271483

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BRIANNA MCKEE HAGGERTY,

Appellant,

v. NANCY F. THORNTON, et al.,

Respondents.

Court of Appeal No. D078049

San Diego County Super. Ct. No. 37-2019-00028694-PR-TR-CTL

On Grant of Petition for Review of a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District Case No. D078049

Affirming an Order Denying a Trust Petition San Diego County Superior Court Case No. 37-2019-00028694-PR-TR-CTL Honorable Julia Craig Kelety, Judge Presiding

# ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS FOR RESPONDENT PATRICIA GALLIGAN

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

### 3. The Pena Decision

In *Pena*, the Court of Appeal considered whether a settlor's handwritten interlineations to a prior trust amendment served as a valid further amendment. The trust instrument allowed modification "by written instrument signed by the settlor and delivered to the trustee." (*Pena*, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th at pp. 552–553.) The bulk of *Pena* addressed whether the handwritten interlineations comprised a "written instrument," concluding that they did (*id.* at pp. 552–553), and whether the settlor had signed the interlineations by signing a post-it note affixed to them, concluding that he had not (*id.* at pp. 553–555). The Court of Appeal ruled that "[b]ecause [the settlor] did not sign the interlineations, [the interlineations] did not effectively amend the trust." (*Id.* at pp. 553–555.)

Pena applied the rule in King and Irvine that the mere specification in the trust instrument of any method of modification precluded amendment by the statutory method. (Id.

at p. 552.) But the *Pena* court did not conduct its own statutory interpretation of section 15402, nor did it distinguish let alone even discuss *Huscher*'s contrary interpretation of section 15402.

In any event, because the *Pena* court determined that the settlor failed to sign the interlineations, they were not a valid modification even under the statutory method.

### 4. The Balistreri Decision

The *Balistreri* majority conducted its own analysis of section 15402 and sided with the *King* majority. (*Balistreri*, supra, 75 Cal.App.5th at pp. 516–522.) The court concluded that "[t]he most plain and straightforward reading of the phrase '[u]nless the trust . . . provides otherwise' in section 15402 is that when a trust provides for the use of a specific modification method, that method must be used." (*Id.* at p. 520.) The court found the statutory language sufficiently unambiguous and thus eschewed appellant's legislative history arguments. (*Id.* at p. 521) Nonetheless, the court reviewed the history and found that it did not "conclusively resolve what was intended by the phrase, '[u]nless [the trust] . . . provides otherwise." (*Id.* at p. 522.)

The *Balistreri* court read the phrase "provides otherwise" in isolation, rather than in harmony with the default position that the "procedure for revocation" applies to modification. (Prob. Code, § 15402.) The procedure for revocation allows revocation (1) by compliance with any method of revocation set forth in the trust or (2) by signed writing delivered to the trustee, unless the trust makes its stated method explicitly exclusive. (Prob. Code, §

15401.) Thus, by way of section 15402's incorporation by express reference, modification can be accomplished (1) by compliance with any method in the trust or (2) by signed writing delivered to the trustee, unless the trust makes its own method explicitly exclusive. In the context of this procedure, a trust only "provides otherwise" if it makes its own method explicitly exclusive.

Further, the court's brief description of the legislative history did not address the policy goals for the entire statutory scheme regarding revocation and modification. As discussed above, the Commission's guiding principle was to provide flexibility in favor of revocation and amendment. The Commission treated revocation and modification in the same manner, and emphasized that trusts should be "adapt[able] to a variety of situations, . . . and the changing needs, values, and circumstances of the settlor and the beneficiaries. . . . Restrictive features of a trust may come to be viewed as too restraining in the face of the interest in free alienability of property. A rigid trust may also become uneconomical to administer over time." (18 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. at p. 565.)

The Commission rejected as too restrictive the rule under prior cases that provision of *any* method of revocation in the trust precluded the use of the statutory method of revocation. (18 Cal. Law Rev. Com. at p. 568.) Instead, it chose the explicitly exclusive rule to maintain flexibility but at the same time also allowed more rigidity if the settlor desired. (*Ibid.*) There is no explanation in *Balistreri* as to why, then, the Commission would

have favored the old restrictive rule for modification so that provision of *any* method of modification in the trust precludes the use of the statutory method. To the contrary, the Commission meant for modification to follow the same rules as revocation. (*Ibid.*)

The trust at issue in *Balistreri* provided that "[a]ny amendment, revocation, or termination . . . shall be made by written instrument signed, with signature acknowledged by a notary public, by the trustor(s) making the revocation, amendment, or termination, and delivered to the trustee." (*Balistreri*, *supra*, 75 Cal.App.5th at p. 515.) The purported amendment was alleged to have been signed by both settlors one day prior to the death of one of them, but it had not been notarized. (*Id.* at p. 514.) The petitioner also raised issues of capacity and undue influence related to the settlor who passed away the day after the amendment. (*Id.* at p. 515.)

Applying the rule that provision of any method in the trust requires use of that method, the court affirmed the order invalidating the purported amendment because it was never notarized. (*Balistreri, supra*, 75 Cal.App.5th at p. 514.)

Nonetheless the result would likely have been the same under the explicitly exclusive rule. The trust stated that "[a]ny modification, revocation, or termination . . . *shall* be made" by a signed, notarized writing and, arguably, the use of the word "shall" was intended to make the method mandatory. (*Ibid*. (emphasis added); *Larson v. State Pers. Bd.* (1994) 28

Cal.App.4th 265, 276 ["The ordinary meaning of 'shall' or 'must' is of mandatory effect, while the ordinary meaning of 'may' is purely permissive in character."].) While the *Balistreri* majority expressed doubt as to whether the word "shall" is mandatory, it did not cite any cases that view "shall" as permissive and, indeed, courts have construed "shall" as mandatory. (*Balestreri*, at p. 520, fn. 5; *Larson*, at p. 276 [shall is mandatory]; *CQL Original Products*, *Inc. v. Nat'l Hockey League Players' Ass'n.* (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 1347, 1358 [same].)

The concurring opinion in *Balistreri* agreed with the result but took a different view of the phrase "provides otherwise" in section 15402. (*Balistreri*, supra, 75 Cal.App.5th at p. 523 (conc. opn. of Tuscher, P.J.).) The concurrence would read this language "to mean that the settlor may modify the trust using any appropriate procedure for revocation '[u]nless the trust instrument' says that the settlor may not (*i.e.*, 'provides otherwise'). (§ 15402.)." (*Ibid.*) Under this rule, the trust precluded amendment by the statutory method of revocation because it "sets forth a different procedure for amending the trust, and it does so in language ["shall be made"] that makes the specified method exclusive." (*Id.* at p. 523.)

The concurrence further suggested that a trust "provides otherwise" if it either *explicitly or implicitly* limits trustors to the use of the specified method. (*Balistreri, supra*, 75 Cal.App.5th at p. 524 (conc. opn.).) This view strikes a middle ground between the view that specification of any method displaces the statutory

method and the view that only an explicitly exclusive method displaces the statutory method. (*Id.*) And it is the view taken by the *Huscher* court in interpreting the old law under Civil Code section 2280. (*Ibid.*)

Nonetheless, *Huscher* itself pointed out that the new explicitly exclusive test in section 15401 was a purposeful change in law presumably to "avoid the problems of interpretation inherent in determining issues of implicit exclusivity." (*Huscher*, *supra*, 121 Cal.App.4th at p. 971, fn. 13.) Adopting a middle ground approach would reintroduce an ambiguity problem that the Commission sought to cure.

# B. Huscher, the King Dissent, and the Decision Below Read Sections 15401 and 15402 Together in Light of the Statutes' Purposes

### 1. The *Huscher* Decision

In *Huscher*, the Court of Appeal addressed a trust governed by former Civil Code section 2280, but considered the differences between that rule and the new rule in Probate Code section 15402 to determine the contours of the old rule. (121 Cal.App.4th at pp. 963–971.) The court considered the decision in *Irvine*, which "although ostensibly carried out under the terms of Probate Code section 15401, relied almost exclusively on authorities that had interpreted Civil Code former section 2280." (*Id.* at p. 966.)

Regarding *Irvine*'s analysis of section 2280 law, the court criticized that it "offer[ed] inconsistent interpretations of the law" and arrived at the wrong rule that the provision of *any* 

modification method in the trust meant that method had to be followed under section 2280. (*Huscher*, *supra*, 121 Cal.App.4th at pp. 966–967.) Instead, the court read section 2280 to mean that the statutory method of medication could be used "unless the trust instructions either implicitly or explicitly specify an exclusive method of modification. (*Id.* at p. 966.)

As discussed above, the court noted the "problems of interpretation inherent in determining issues of implicit exclusivity" and presumed that the change in law under section 15401 to explicit exclusivity was aimed to avoid these problems. (*Huscher*, *supra*, 121 Cal.App.4th at p. 971, fn. 13.) Moreover, the court read sections 15401 and 15402 together to mean that "the statutory procedure for modifying a trust can be used unless the trust provides a modification procedure and explicitly makes that method exclusive (explicit exclusivity)." (*Id.* at pp. 967–968.)

Turning to the trust in that case, the court determined that it was neither implicitly nor explicitly exclusive for purposes of the old rule. (*Huscher*, *supra*, 121 Cal.App.4th at p. 972.) The modification provision in the trust at issue in *Huscher* stated that the trustor "may at any time amend any of the terms of this trust by an instrument in writing signed by the Trustor and the Trustee." (*Ibid.*) Given the permissive language of the provision, either that method or the statutory method of modification could be used. (*Ibid.*) The trustor signed eight different amendments and delivered them to the trustee (which satisfied the statutory method), although none was signed by the trustee. (*Id.* at pp.

959–960.) These amendments were valid under the statutory method. (*Id.* at p. 972.)

### 2. The King Dissent

The *King* dissent engaged in an extended review of the legislative history of section 15402, and concluded the same rule applies to modification as to revocation, including the explicitly exclusive rule. (King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1195–1196 (dis. op.).) The dissent's analysis emphasized the policy goals of the Commission in enacting sections 15401 and 15402. (*Ibid.*) As already discussed, these goals included: codification of the common law rule that "modification of a trust was viewed as merely one aspect of the more inclusive power to revoke a trust" (id. at p. 1196); "a perceived need to move away from" the prior law that too easily displaced the statutory method of revocation or modification (id. at p. 1195); a desire to make trusts "a flexible mechanism" and to avoid "[r]estrictive features [that] may come to be viewed as too restraining in the face of the interest in free alienability of property" (id. [citations omitted]); but still including a path for settlors "to establish a more protective" scheme for revocation or modification if the settlor intended these restrictions (id. at p. 1196). Based on these goals, the dissent sided with *Huscher's* interpretation of section 15402 as incorporating the same rule for modification as for revocation, meaning that a trust must specify an explicitly exclusive method of modification to displace the statutory method. (*Id.* at p. 1197.)

Turning to the trust at hand, the dissent noted that it used "nonexclusive" language for the method of modification. (*King*, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1197 (dis. op.)) Thus, the dissent determined that the trust "did not explicitly exclude use of the alternative statutory method for modification" and could be amended by use of the statutory method. (*Id.* at p. 1198 [citing Masry v. Masry (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 738, 742].)

#### 3. The Decision Below

In the opinion below, the Court of Appeal engaged in the thorough review of legislative history taken by the King dissent and agreed with the interpretation that section 15402 incorporates the same explicitly exclusive rule for modification as for revocation. (Haggerty, supra, 68 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1008– 1011.) The court emphasized that section 15402 "cannot be read in a vacuum" and did not "establish an independent rule regarding modification." (Id. at p. 1011.) Rather, the Commission intended to treat revocation and modification the same and intended to provide settlors with "greater flexibility" for both. (Id. at pp. 1010–1011.) While declining to comment on whether King "was ultimately correctly decided on its facts," the court rejected the majority's interpretation treating modification more restrictively than revocation because "[n]othing in the Commission's comments on sections 15401 and 15402 supports that position." (Id. at p. 1010 [quoting King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at p. 1196 (dis. opn.)].)

The Court of Appeal's reading of the statute in this case, along with the decision in *Huscher* and the dissent in *King*, "more accurately captures the meaning of section 15402." (*Id.* at p. 1011.)

# III. The Court of Appeal Correctly Applied Section 15402 to the Facts in This Case

A. The Trust Expressly Reserved Bertsch's Right to Amend or Revoke the Trust by Using the Same Nonexclusive Method, so Bertsch Could Amend by Employing the Statutory Method

Among the rights expressly reserved to Bertsch as sole settlor in the trust in this case was "[t]he right by an acknowledged instrument in writing to revoke or amend" her trust. (1 CT 23.) Citing Masry v. Masry, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at p. 742, the Court of Appeal determined this language is nonexclusive and does not indicate that "Bertsch intended to bind herself to the specific method described in the trust agreement, to the exclusion of the statutory method. (Haggerty, supra, 68 Cal.App.5th at p. 1012.) The Masry court held that a trust provision reserving to each of two settlors the right to revoke, in whole or in part, by written instrument delivered to the other settlor and to the trustee was not explicitly exclusive. (204) Cal.App.4th at pp. 740, 742.) The statutory method requires amendment by writing, signed by the settlor, delivered to the trustee during the settlor's lifetime. (Prob. Code, § 15401, subd. (a).) This method was indisputably met.

Bertsch signed the 2018 Amendment and included a handwritten instruction to her former estate planning attorney:

"I herewith instruct Patricia Galligan to place this document with her copy of the Trust. She can verify my handwriting." (1 CT 49.) Bertsch mailed the amendment from her home in Chicago to Galligan in San Diego, and Galligan confirmed receipt in writing. (1 CT 158.) Further, there are no allegations that Bertsch was unduly influenced or lacked capacity to execute the 2018 Amendment. Indeed, there is not a hint of evidence that the 2018 Amendment does not embody Bertsch's actual intent. (Cf. Barefoot, supra, 8 Cal.5th at p. 826 ["The primary duty of a court in construing a trust is to give effect to the settlor's intentions."].) Thus, the Court of Appeal correctly determined that the amendment was valid. (Haggerty, supra, 68 Cal.App.5th at p. 1012.)

# B. Haggerty's Claim that *King* Controls Is Meritless

Haggerty proposes one final theory to prevent Bertsch's amendment from being given effect. She argues that the interpretation of section 15402 in the *King* majority should be applied, *even if it is incorrect*, based on the theory that it was the "prevailing law" when Bertsch devised her trust in January 2015. (AOB 15, 44.) This argument fails on several grounds.

First, the argument was not raised below and "is therefore not cognizable before this court." (*Ehrlich v. City of Culver City* (1996) 12 Cal.4th 854, 912.) Further, the argument assumes facts that were never established and that cannot be introduced for the first time before this Court. There is no evidence in the record that the trust was written in reliance on the *King* rule. And given

the factual dissimilarities between the trust terms here and in *King*, there is no reason to believe that Bertsch or her counsel would have looked to *King* as guidance.

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